EXTRACTION OF PLATINUM, PALLADIUM AND RHODIUM FROM TAILINGS BY A METAL CHLORIDE BASED LEACH REAGENT.

MARK BURDEN COCKSEDGE

ł

A Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of Engineering, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, in fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Engineering.

Johannesburg, 1993

## Declaration

I declare that this dissertation is my own, unaided work. It is being submitted for the Degree of Master of Science in Engineering in the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. It has not been submitted before for any degree or examination in any other university.

Brekele

10 day of February 1993

## Abstract

Migh extractions of the platinum group metals from a refractory tailings concentrate (PGM Concentration : Pt 81.5ppm, Pd 21.5ppm, Rh 17.5ppm) was achieved after short low-temperature roasting and subsequent leaching with a zinc chloride based leach reagent containing nitric acid under atmospheric pressure at temperatures from 105°C to 120°C.

A one stage, 2.5 to 3 hour leach resulted in the following extractions :

Platinum 90.85% ; Palladium 79.46% ; Rhodium 80.12%

The zinc chloride based leach reagent allowed for the use of a higher leaching temperature than which is found in Aqua Regia. This higher leaching temperature resulted in the levels of extractions of platinum, palladium and rhodium being comparable with one another.

Extractions were not effected within a zinc chloride concentration range of 2M to 6M.

Also an oxidant concentration range of 5.48% to 24.97% resulted in similar degrees of extraction.

It was established that the main limiting factor for the dissolution of the platinum group metals was the accessibility of the leach reagent towards platinum, palladium and rhodium. This was over come by rossting.

#### Acknowledgements

I acknowledge with gratitude the help of the following people, whose support and assistance made the completion of this dissertation possible.

and the second second

Dr. F.K. Letowski, my supervisor, who provided guidance and advice throughout; Dr. D.R. Arnold and Dr. H.A.H. Laue for their support and encouragement.

## Contents

Declaration

Abstract

Acknowledgements

<u>Contents</u>

Aim Of Research

List Of Figures

List Of Tables

Introduction

<u>Platinum Group Metal Recovery</u> <u>Platinum Group Metal Chemistry</u> <u>Platinum Group Element Mineralogy</u> <u>Pre-Leach Treatment Of Concentrates</u>

Experimental

Aqua Regia Leaching

Metal Chloride Leaching

Digestics Of Residual Solid

## Results And Conclusions

- 1. Effect Of Roasting On Concentrate
  - a. Weight Loss On Roasting
  - b. Degree Of Extraction
- 2. Effect Of Metal Chloride Concentration a. Direct Leaching Of Concentrate

Page

11

126

iv

v

vii

X

1

æ

8

12

17

17

22

24

26

27

27

27

33

35

40

viii

b. Leaching Of Roasted Concentrate

3. <u>Oxidant Concentration</u>

الرجائدية المقاد فابده

(**MC**) (1997) 20

50

50

52

54

54

57

6

0

11

73

76

- a. Leaching Of Roasted Concentrate b. Direct Leaching Of Concentrate
- 4. Leaching Temperature
  - a. Direct Leaching Of Concentrate b. Leaching Of Roasted Concentrate

والمحاصية المحصي

- VI -

- 5. Leaching Time
- 6. Three Stage Leaching
- 7. Distribution Of Extracted Metals

Summary Of Conclusions

References

### Aim Of Research

To establish if a metal chloride based leach reagent could be used for the extraction of the platinum group metals from a refractory tailings concentrate.

Specifically to establish the effect of the following parameters,

1. Pre-Leach Treatment of Concentrate - Roasting

2. Metal Chloride Concentration

3. Oxidant Concentration

4. Learning Temperature

5. Leaching Time

on the degree of extraction of platinum, palladium and rhodium.

# <u>List Of Figures</u>

	i an a'	이 물건 같은 동안 도시에 있는 방법이 있는 것 같은 물건을 많이 많다. 이 것 같은 것 같은 것 같이 많이 가지 않는 것이다.	
Figure	1	: Pyrometallurgical Process	7
Figure	2	: Hydrometallurgical Process	7
Figure	3	: Generalized Stratigraphy Of The Bushveld Complex And Critical Zone	14
Figure	4	: Learh Reactor	21
Figure	5	: Typical Experimental Procedure	25
Figure	6	: Typical Reaction Profile	25
f 1gure	7	: Rosst Temperature Vs Weight Loss	28
Figure	e	; Zinc Chloride Concentration Vs Density	34
Figure	9	: Density Vs % Extraction (Pt) Direct Leaching	36
Figure	10	: Density Vs % Extraction (Pd) Direct Leaching	37
Figure	11	: Density Vs % Extraction (Rh) Direct Leaching	38
Figure	12	Density Vs % Extraction (Ni,Fe,Cr) Direct Leaching	39
Figure	13	: Density Vs % Extraction (Pt) Roasted Concentrate	41
Figure	14	: Density Vs % Extraction (Pd) Roasted Concentrate	42
Figure	15	Density Vs % Extraction (Rh) Roasted Concentrate	43
Figura	16	Density Vs % Extraction (Ni) Roasted Concentrate	44
Figure	17 1	Density Vs % Extraction (Fe) Roasted Concentrate	45
Figure	18 ;	Density Vs % Extraction (Cr) Roasted Concentrate	46
Figure	19 :	Oxidant Concentration Vs % Extraction	。 「町1

÷

Page

Figure 20 : Oxidant Concentration Vs % Extraction (Pt,Pd,Rh) Direct Leaching 53
Figure 21 : Leach Temperature V5 % Extraction (Pt,Pd,Rh) Jirect Leaching 55
Figure 82 : Leach Temperature Vs % Extraction (Ni,Fe,Cr) Direct Leaching 56
Figure 23 : Leach Temperature Vs % Extraction (Pt,Pd,Rh) Roasted Concentrate 58
Figure 24 : Leach Temperature Vs % Extraction (Ni,Fe,Cr) Roasted Concentrate 59
Figure 25 ; Leach Time Vs % Extraction (Pt) 42
Figure 26 : Leach Time Vs % Extraction (Pd) 63
Figure 27 : Leach, Time Vs % Extraction (Rh) 64
Figure 28 : Leach Time Vs % Extraction (Ni,Fe) 45
Figure 27 : Three Stage Leaching 67
Figure 30 : Solid Residue Leaching (Pt,Pd,Rh) 48
Figure 31 : Solid Residue Leaching (Ni,Fe,Cr) 69

## List Of Tables

				Page
Table	1	2	Common Platinum And Palladium Minerals	13
Table	2	₽	Ngua Regia Leaching	23
Table	3	1000 1000 1000 1000 1000	Effect Of Roasting Temperature On Weight Loss	27
Table	4	ŧ	Roasting Temperature Vs Degree Of Extraction	on 29
Table	5	1	Relationship Between Density And Concentration For Zinc Chloride	33
Təble	6	ġ	Effect Of Zinc Chloride Concentration On Extraction (Direct Leaching)	35
Table	7	ş	Effect Df Zinc Chloride Concentration Dn Extraction (Roasted Concentrate)	40
Table	8	<b>:</b>	Dxidant Concentration Vs % Extraction (Roasted Concentrate)	50
Table	9		Exidant Concentration Vs % Extraction (Direct Leaching)	52
Tab1#	10	3	Leach Temperature Vs % Extraction (Direct Leaching)	54
Table	11	8	Leach Temperature Vs % Extraction (Roasted Concentrate)	57
Table	12	\$	Leaching Time Vs % Extraction	60
Table	13	1	Three Stage Leaching	66
fable	14	\$	Residual Solid Leaching - Weight Loss	70
Table	15		Extracted Metal Distribution	71

#### Introduction

The Platinum Group Metals comprise of Platinum (Pt), Palladium (Pd), Iridium (Ir), Osmium (Os), Ruthenium (Ru) and Rhodium (Rh). All are analogous with silver and gold and are invariably present as native alloys of the platinum metal.

The Indians of Ecuador and Columb a were the first to collect platinum nuggets to produce primitive articles as well as a crude platinum-gold alloy, in which platinum nuggets were hammered flat and soldered together with molten gold. The spanish named platinum, platina, which means little silver and regarded it as an impurity. (1)

Platinum was first discovered in Columbia and mining began in 1778. Rich platinum placers were found in the Russian Ural mountains in 1822. Platinum was found in the Bushveld complex in Transvaal, South Africa in the latter part of 1924 on the farm Maandagshoek and named after its discoverer the Merensky Reef. '\*\*

South Africa, Russia and Canada account for nearly all of the worlds mined primarily platinum group metals. South Africa and Bophuthatswana posses approximately 70% of the world's reserves of platinum group metals and currently provide an estimated 83% of the western world's annual production.

South African deposits are termed the Bushveld Igneous Complex, a stratiform intrusion that covers an estimated area of 650 000 square kilometers in the central Transvaal.

It is believed to be the world's largest known repository of platinum group metals containing an estimated reserve of more than 200 million oz of platinum group metals.

#### Platinum Group Metal Recovery

The conventional methods used for the recovery of platinum group metals involves primarily pyrometallurgical processing techniques. The flotation or gravity concentrate is prepared from the crushed ore. This concentrate is the fed into a smelter, from which a matte of base metals is obtained. The platinum group metals are then recovered from the base metals matte by known techniques, for example pressure leaching, electro refining.<sup>(B)</sup>

The advantage of this pyrometallugical process is that, at smelting temperatures, the ore minerals lose their identity in a molten mass. Accordingly, thermodynamics, mass transfer kinetics and phase separations are the main factors which control the process. In the smelting process, sulfur (from the sulphidic ores) supplies part of the fuel energy. However, SO<sub>E</sub> leakage into the atmosphere is prohibited resulting in a conflicting situation between energy consumption and environmental problems.

But, the biggest problem of this conventional smelting process lies within obtaining a suitable concentrate. The grade of the concentrate as well as its composition has to conform to certain specifications in order for it to be suitable for smelting.

For example: If the chromite content of the concentrate is too high, it can result in the formation of infusible slag which contains a high proportion of unrecoverable platinum group metals. That is, the tendency of the chromite to "freeze" within the slag and build up in the furnace.

Thus as a result of this tendency, it is often necessary to sacrifice some recovery during the flotation or gravity concentration process in order to achieve the grade of concentrate that will be suitable for smelting. This sacrificing of recovery during the concentration process results in loss of platinum group metals.

As an alternative to the conventional pyrometallurgical process, a hydrometallurgical process after preparation of the flotation or gravity concentrate is proposed.

- 2 -

In such a process the valuable constituents in the concentrate, such as the platinum group metals as well as base metals, could be extracted by a suitable leaching reagent. Resulting in the formation of a solution of these metals. This enriched solution can then be separated from the remaining gangue material, particularly the insoluble chromite, by simple filtration.

The platinum group metals and desired base metals could then be recovered from the leach solution by using conventionally known hydrometallurgical techniques.

One of the main reasons why such a chloride hydrometallurgical process has not been exploited to any large degree, is due primarily to the fact that it is extremely difficult to find a suitable leacning reagent that will dissolve the platinum group metals in the concentrate. The platinum group metals are present in the concentrate as a number of mineral compounds, some of which are insoluble, others are encapsulated within other minerals such as pentlandite or chalcopyrite.

A review of chloride-b\_red systems in hydrometallurgy indicates that it has been used for the treatment and recovery of precious metal; for a number of years.<sup>(#)</sup> The earliest use of chloride ions in metallurgy seem to appear during the sixteenth century for the amalgamation of silver. The next important process was the direct decomposition of silver sulphide by cuprous chloride, developed in 1860.<sup>(4)</sup>

This can be considered as the start of direct hydrometallurgy of sulphides.

The usage of chloride chemistry in hydrometallurgy has suffered in its application due mainly to the highly corrosive character of the chloride ion, which can penetrate normally passive layers on a high-alloy nickel-chromium steel.<sup>47</sup> However, with the advent of new materials this problem can be solved and the possibility of applying chloride chemistry presents itself in new ways.

The attractive features of chloride-based hydrometallurgy can be summarized as follows (4):40,1

 (i) Many metal chloride salts have a high solubility, thus allowing for the use of highly concentrated metal solutions. (i1) The formation of metal chlorocomplex ions in solution enables a number of important metal separations to be achieved more readily in chloride solutions.

Sector Rest

- (iii) Hydrochloric acid is often more readily recoverable from chloride solutions, thus allowing regeneration and recycling of the chloride within the process.
- (iv) High concentrated solutions of most metals of interest in non-ferrous metallurgy can be obtained through complexation by chloride ions.
- (v) Most electrochemical reactions are more readily reversible in chloride solutions.
- (vi) Leaching of sulphide occurs more easily in chloride solutions.

Disadvantages

- (i) Chloride solutions are corrosive.
   However, this can be matched by choosing suitable materials for equipment.
- (ii) Solid residues should be thoroughly washed before being disposed as wastes or environmental protection.

### Choice Of Leaching Solution

The leaching solution needs to be based on chloride compounds which will be non-volatile under the leach conditions.

The decomposition of platinum group metals, their refractory compounds and the formation of soluble chloride complexes in solution depend on three important parameters.

1. Temperature.

The kinetics of platinum group metal dissolution, their liberation from refractory minerals and the kinetics of platinum group metal sulphide and arsenide oxidation are highly dependent on temperature. 2. Chloride Concentration.

Any reaction in which the soluble complex chlorides are formed with dissolved metals will be driven towards completion by the presence of a high chloride concentration in the leach solution.

\_\_\_\_\_ **\***\_\_\_\_

شهره والمسجو يتسجو يعارفه

3. Type and Effectiveness of Oxidant.

3. W. A. I.

Dissolution of platinum group metals requires a high chloride ion concentration in an acidic solution, together with the presence of a suitable oxidant. Such conditions exist when Aqua Regia is used as a leaching reagent. Aqua Regia is a mixture of concentrated hydrochloric and nitric acids in the proportion of [HC1]:[HNO<sub>p</sub>] 3:1.

However, even at a relatively low temperature (70=C-90=C), leaching with Aqua Regia is extremely difficult due to the instability of the solution, which is marked by a high partial pressure of gaseous hydrogen chloride (HCl.,,) and substantial nitric acid decomposition resulting in evolution of gaseous nitrogen oxides.

The main problem of lerching with Aqua Regia is the loss of the volatile source of chloride ions, namely gaseous hydrogen chloride, which are essential for the formation of soluble platinum group metal complex ions in solution.

This loss of chloride ions is detrimental to the leaching efficiency in a number of ways. Namely :

1. Reduction in leaching rate.

- 2. Considerable reduction in the degree of recovery of the more "refractory" platinum group metal such as rhodium. Owing to the relative slowness of chlorocomplex formation.
- 3. The process requires specialized installation of equipment for the absorption of the toxic gaseous products of the decomposition of the reagent.
- 4. The process requires for the leaching to be carried out in a hermetically closed reactor, often under conditions of elevated pressure.

As a result of these conditions, Aqua Regia leaching is an extremely costly procedure which does not readily result in an acceptably high recovery of platinum group metals.

- 5 -

Most often a total dissolution is not achieved, only a partial separation between the primary and secondary platinum group metals result. This partial separation is only achieved at the cost of leaving a substantial amount of primary platinum group metals undissolved within the gangue material. '?' Further recovery is often necessary.

For the alternative process proposed, an acid-chloride leach under oxidizing conditions is used for the extraction of platinum, palladium and rhodium. That is, an Aqua Regia based system is used as the leach reagent. However part of the hydrochloric acid component of the leach reagent is replaced/substituted by the dissolved metal chloride salt. This dissolved metal chloride salt, together with the remaining hydrochloric acid portion, acted as the source of chloride ions which are essential for the dissolution of the platinum group metals.

This substitution would more importantly provide for a reduction in the amount of gaseous hydrogen chloride, and hence reduce chloride loss which results in the reduction of the leaching rate associated with the use of Aqua Regia. Also, at high concentrations of dissolved metal chloride salt, it is possible to operate the leaching at temperatures much higher than that possible under normal Aqua Regia conditions.

A similar type of system was proposed and successfully used for the extraction of platinum group metals from scrapped pellet and honeycomb automotive catalysts. (10-10)

Also, current research concerning the partial replacement of hydrochloric acid by less volatile, soluble metal chloride salts, conducted in the Department of Metallurgy at the University of the Witwatersrand has indicated their effectiveness as a chloride ion source for precious metal leaching.

## Figure 1 : Pyrometallurgical Process

ુ જ અન્

Crushe	d Dre
Flota	tion
Солген	trate
304 (1995) 6 1 (1995) 6 1 (1995) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
Smel	ter
Mai	<b>te</b>
PGM Re	covery

 to Hydrometallurgical Processing

## Figure 2 : Hydrometallurgical Process



### Platinum Group Metal Chemistry

The six members of the platinum group, ruthenium, rhodium, palladium, osmium, iridium and platinum exhibit distinctive properties including resistance to chemical attack, excellent high temperature characteristics, the ability to catalyze chemical reactions and stable electrical properties.

Insight into their characteristics can be obtained by examining their position in the periodic table.

Platinum Group Metals are the second and third triad of group VIII or transition group. The platinum metals in the two triads differ markedly in atomic weight, that is, the second triad is nearly twice as heavy as the corresponding element of the first triad. However, the physical and chemical properties of each metal are very similar to those of the corresponding member in the other triad. For example, platinum and palladium are similar in ductility and chemical properties. Similarly indium and rhodium, and osmium and ruthenium can be coupled together.'

As members to the transition element series they display all the properties associated with transition metals. Various schemes for the grouping the platinum group metal include melting point and atomic weight have been proposed. (15-10)

Platinum group metals have a versatile and complex chemistry. Their nobility is shared to a large degree with both gold and silver, and it refers to the reluctance to dissolve in media that will corrode any base-metal.

A combination of kinetic and thermodynamic factors are involved as follows (?):

(a) The high potential of the reaction

 $M^{\circ} \longrightarrow M^{n+} + ne^{-}$  (where M=metal) (1)

(b) The tendency of the metal, when oxidized, to form a kinetically inert layer of oxide (or chloride) at its surface, and

(c) The inherently slow kinetics of the reaction in (1).

The last two factors operate strongly in the case of the rhodium (Rh).

Generally it dissolves much more slowly in a chloride medium than the primary platinum group metals, platinum (Pt) and palladium (Pd). The range of oxidation states (0 to +8) shown by the platinum group metals in an aqueous media is far greater than that found in other transition elements, and their stability of the higher oxidation states is greater. However, this relative stability of these states depends to a large extent on the complexing ligands in the solution.

It is the manipulation of the oxidation states that is one of the most important techniques used for the separation of the platinum group metals.

#### Platinum, Palladium and Rhodium Chlorocomplexes

Chloride complexing will be important only under high exidizing and acidic conditions. In solutions where  $Cl^-$  > OM, the predominant chloride complexes of platinum and p. ladium will be PtCl4<sup>2-</sup> and PdCl4<sup>2-</sup> in the temperature range of 25°C to at least 200°C. (1°)

For chloride media, the chemistry of the aquo ions are insignificant except in the case of Rh(III). Usually there are several species present in equilibrium with one another and can be represented by the general equation (9):

 $\begin{array}{l} \mathsf{M}^{n+}(\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{B}}\mathsf{R})_{\mathsf{m}} + \mathsf{C}1^{-} \longleftrightarrow \mathsf{M}(\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{B}}\mathsf{D})_{\mathsf{M}-1}\mathsf{C}1^{+}(\mathsf{n}^{-1})^{*} \cdots \cdots ^{*}, \overset{\sim}{\longleftrightarrow} \mathsf{M}\mathsf{C}1_{\mathsf{m}}^{-}(\mathsf{m}^{-n})^{*} \\ (\mathsf{Aquo} ::\mathsf{on}) \end{array}$ 

(Where M=metal) (2)

The position of the equilibrium depends on the oxidation state, however for Pd and Pt the equilibrium is almost always completely in favor of the chlorocomplex under acidic conditions.

The situation, however is more complicated for the secondary platinum group metal, Rh(III) which usually exists as mixed complexes.

Chloride ions form relatively strong complexes with Rh<sup>a+</sup>, but the unusually slow kinetics involved have lead to some questionable estimates of their stabilities. Kinetic studies on both the forward and reverse reaction,

- 7 -

 $RhCl_{a}^{a-} + H_{a}O \rightleftharpoons RhCl_{a}H_{a}O^{a-} + Cl^{-}$  (3)

have provided the most reliable estimates of the equilibrium for Rh(III). (eo)

The platinum group metals Pt, Pd and Rh are, in general, very resistant to acid dissolution. Only a very strong hydrochloric acid solution is able to slowly dissolve them under non-oxidizing conditions. However, the presence of a suitable oxidant strongly promotes their dissolution.

بالمتحديق بالمجمعة عند منيخا ما المحاج ال

Based on this, almost all process chemistry of platinum group metals involve the use of chlorides plus oxident.

All of the oxidants below are capable of oxidizing platinum group metals and can theoretically be utilized for their recovery. Standard reduction potentials of commonly used oxidants are as follows <sup>(e1)</sup>:

C10s~ +	- 6H+ +	6e- <del>≪</del>	≥ C1- +	3HaQ	E° 1,45v	{4}
HOC1 +	► ⊱ <del>/</del>  ≁ - +	20- 🗧	≥ C1- +	HeO	E= 1.48v	(5)
C1 <sub>8</sub> (g)	+	58- á	≥ 201-		E° 1.36v	(6)
HaDe +	· 2H+ +	2e- 🗲	≥ SH <sup>e</sup> O		E° 1.78v	(7)
8r0 <sub>9</sub> - +	· 6H+ +	69- 🔫	≥ Br- +	3HeD	Eº 1.42V	(8)
NO <sub>o</sub> - +	• 4H+ +	3e** 🔫	≥ NO +	2H <sup>a</sup> 0	E= 0.94v	(9)

## Redox Reactions For Platinum, Palladium and Rhodium

The common exidation states for platinum are II and IV, for palladium II and for rhodium I and III. For their dissolution their standard potentials in aquecus chloride solutions are as follows (24):

P	Ľ ا	44 A.	+ 4C	1-	 PtC	1	· + 2	2e-	Eo	-0	75v 🔅	্ৰ 1	0 }
÷,			i sti s										
P	HC 1	, #2	+ <u>`</u> 2∩	1-	 24 G	1,8-	+ 2	28-	Fn	-c	18v	61	13
						•••	-			eren a			
					 -	1					÷		<u> </u>
۲C	1		4 4L	1-	 101	±40 <sup>mm</sup>	+ 5	\$e-	FO	-0.5	DAA	11	<b>23</b>
	e de la compañía de l									1.1.1		al al an an Airtí	
DF			1 LC	3	 DAC	1 3-			EA	-0 6	5 D. J	11	Οl.

The oxidative reactions (10),(12) and (13) are also dissolution reactions while reaction (11) is a redox reaction which occurs in solution.

The PtCl4<sup>e+</sup> chlorocomplex ion is unstable and can disproportionate to the free metal and the tetravalent complex :

2PtC14 - + Pt(0) + PtC14 + 2C1- (14)

Dissolution of platinum group metals requires a high chloride ion concentration in an acidic solution, together with the presence of a suitable oxidant.

Such conditions exist when Aqua Regia is used as a leaching reagent.

Since the chemistry of Aqua Regia is not fully understood it is difficult to determine which redox reaction(s, and their corresponding standard potential(s) take(s) place in the solution.

It is generally stated that the reduction reactions of nitric acid are as follows (8%):

NO⇔∼	+	3H+	+ 2e		HNOs	+ H <sub>e</sub> O	E⇔	0.94v	(15)	•
NDœ~	+	4H+	+ 3e	- ***	NO	+ 2H <sub>e</sub> 0	E⇔	0.960	(16)	•
2NO <sub>9</sub> -	+	4H+	+ 2e	- 🖚	Ne04	+ 2HæQ	Ee	0.804	{17}	

The E<sup> $\circ$ </sup> of all three reactions, (15),(16) and (17) indicate that they will be able to dissolve the platinum group metals of platinum, palladium and rhodium.

#### Platinum Group Element Mineralogy

In a platinum group element deposit, the platinum group metals fall into two categories (\*);

- (i) discrete platinum group minerals, and
- (ii) those hosted "invisibly" as impurities within other minerals.

Platinum group minerals may be considered as those minerals in which platinum group metals are an essential part of their stoichiometry and definition. For example, cooperite (PtS).

The second group refers to those in which the platinum group metals are hosted as trace elements and are not determinative to the definition of the minerals. For example, pentlandite ((Fe,Ni)<sub>2</sub>Se).

About one third of the platinum group minerals can be grouped as metals, alloys and intermetallic compounds of platinum group metals with Sn, Fe, Pb, Hg, Cu and Ni. The remaining platinum group minerals are platinum group metals formed with S, As, Te, Bi and Sb.

Platinum group metals which are found in bedrock lodes mainly exist as platinum minerals. The platinum elements plus gold, silver and certain base metals serve as cations in combination most often with arsenic and sulfur. Sperrylite, PtAse, is the most widely distributed of all the platinum minerals. (Table 1: Common Platinum And Palladium Minerals)

The most important deposits are related to basic and ultrabasic rocks. Major world occurrences of platinum group metals may be characterized as follows tee :

- Platinum-bearing sulfides of copper, nickel-copper or copper-cobalt that are generically related to basic or ultrabasic igneous rocks.
   For example: Sudbury district, Ontario, Canada.
- (2) Platinum-bearing nickel-copper ores concentrated in gabbroic and ultrabasic rocks. The platinum minerals occur mainly in sperrylite and copperite in the sulfides. For example: Merensky zone of Bushveld Igneous
  - Complex, Transvaal, South Africa.
- (3) Native platinum metals that are disseminated in dunites.

- 12 -

For example: Uralium deposits, USSR.

Table 1 : Common Platinum And Palladium Minerals

Mineral	Formula	l Properties	l Form	Metal Content
  Sperrylite 	l PtAs <sub>e</sub> l	lTin-White  Brittle	l Cubic I	Pt 52-57%
Cooperite	Pt\$	¦  Steel-Grey  Metallic	lTetragonal I	Pt 80-86% 
Braggite	(Pt;Pd,Ni)S	Steel-Grey  Metallic 	Tetragona]   	Pt 58-60%   Pc 16-20%   Ni 2-4%
  Native  Platinum 	Pt I	iBright-White Metallic I	Cubic	) Pt 70-90%

Note : Form is crystal Form

The Merensky Reef is bounded by upper and lower chromitites. (Figure 3) 'sa

e - 8

28 . .

On a macro scale, the distribution of platinum group element values peak in the chromitite layers. However on a micro scale, they are mostly associated with the base-metal sulphides.

A significant proportion of the platinum group elements can be accounted for by platinum group minerals (45%), although they are mainly (50%) hosted as trace elements in base-metal sulphides.

The major base-metal sulphides are, in order of decreasing abundance, pyrrhotite, pentlandite, chalcopyrite and pyrite.

The platinum group metals are normally found in association with the sulphides as inclusions or along sulphide/r'licate grain boundaries. They also occur, to some extent, as inclusions in silicate and in close association with chromite.

It must be noted that the Merensky ore body is remarkably consistent in its composition with the dominant platinum group minerals being cooperite (PtS) and braggite ((Pt,Ni,Pd)S) with subordinate amounts of sperrylite (PtAse).



-----

Figure 3 :

-Generalized straligraphy of the Bushveid Complex

-Straligraphy of the Critical Zone

#### Platinum and Chromitite

The association of platinum group metals with the chromitite layer of the Bushveld Complex is well known.  $(e^{4})$ 

The platinum group metals content and the nature of the platinum group minerals in the UG-2 chromitite layer is as follows (25):

ويتقاربه والمحاجر

- The platinum group metals are not distributed evenly throughout the reef.
- The platinum group metals are predominantly associated with base-metal sulphides or occur close by as discrete minerals enclosed by silicates.
- 3. The amount of platinum group metals enclosed (occluded) within chromito grains are generally very low. (Less than 12%)
- 4. The most common platinum group metal enclosed in chromite is laurite, Rude, containing small amounts of iridium and osmium.
- 5. Considerable lateral variation in platinum group mineralogy of the reef exists.
- 6. The platinum group metals are extremely small, about Sum whilst the associated base-metal sulphides are up to 50µm in diameter.

The occurrence of most of the platinum group metals between the chromite grains and their association with base-metal sulphides make it possible for these minerals to be liberated by grinding before being concentrated. Several factors influence the platinum group metal content of tailings.

 (1) Purity of tailings.
 A greater separation of chromite and silicate lead to higher platinum group metal content.
 (At least double the content)

(ii) Type of chromium ore.

(111) Grain size.

A fine fraction of the tailings result in higher platinum group metal content.

It is believed that the platinum group metals and associated nickel and copper become concentrated in the fine fraction of the tailings during the separation of the chromite.

(iv) Lateral variations in the platinum group metal content of the layer.

Calculations indicate a resource in the tailings dump of close to 50 000 of of platinum group metals, with a value of more than R250 million.  $(B^{BD})$ 

Clearly, it is evident that an integrated approach in which chromite and platinum group metals are simultaneously extracted buld contribute significantly to the profitability of min. J the chromite layers in the Bushveld Complex.

No investigation of the platinum group metal cor ant of the LG-6 or main -hromitite layer has been done. However, if the information gathered for the MG-1, MG-2 and UG-2 chromitite layers also applies to the LG-6 chromitite layer, then it follows that these platinum group metals should become concentrated in the silicate tailings during the purification of the friable chromite ore with spiral concentrates. Completely liberated platinum group metals and base-metal sulphides, although they have a considerably higher density than the chromite, should also be washed to the silicate tailings because of their minute grain size.

The amount of interstitial silicate in LG-6 chromitite layer is approximately 5 to 8%, a pure silicate separation from the chromitite layer should therefore contain more than 5g/t platinum group elements.<sup>(28)</sup>

- 16 -

#### Pre-Leach Treatment of Concentrates

 $\sim 0$ 

#### Roasting

Reasting can be considered as a preparation process because it has the following effects (24):

(1) Volatilization of impurities that could interfere with the chemistry of metal dissolution or in the recovery process.

- (11) Alteration of associated minerals so that they do not enter into the dissolution process.
- (iii) Opening of the mineral structure so that the leach solution can penetrate.
- (iv) Act as a source of leaching reagent. For example, sulfation to produce sulfuric acid in copper ore leaching.
- (v) Assistance to grinding.
   Roasted ores are usually easier to grind.

However, the main disadvantage of roasting a sulphide ore or concentrate is  $SO_{\pm}$  production, which is associated with environmental pollution.

Since all primary deposits of platinum group minerals are usually associated with sulphide ores, the typical reaction for oxidizing sulphide mineral concentrates must be considered.

The generalized reaction can be represented as follows:

 $2MS + 3D_{e} - - > 2MO + 2SO_{e}$  (18)

(Where M=metal)

and the second second

However, two other important reactions which also occur during the roasting of sulphides must be considered in addition to reaction (18). These are  $SO_{2}$  production and metal sulfate production.

Represented generally as:

2MO + 2SO2 + 02 - 2MSO4

(19) (Where M=metal)

290e + 0e 🛹 290e (20)

Brth formation and decomposition occur readily, and depend on the temperature of roasting. Ferrite type compounds are also formed during the roasting process.

Represented by:

MO + FeaDa ----> MO.FeaDa (21)

It is generally agreed that an oxidizing roast will usually decreases the subsequent dissolution of the secondary platinum group metals, where as a reducing roast improves their leachability.

This effect is possibly related to the formation and removal of refractory oxide layers on the metal surfaces.

Previous research has established that for an oxidative chloride leach, significant improvements in the extraction of platinum resulted when the concentrate was roasted to remove the sulphides prior to chemical leaching. (84)

Roasting as a pretreatment for gold evtraction is also well known. <ex,

#### Experimental

Leachings of a platinum group metal enriched refractory tailing concentrate were carried out in a stirred glass reactor having the necessary standard instrumentation (Figure 4), to establish if it was possible to use the profosed alternative hydrometallurgical process for the extraction of platinum group metals, specifically platinum, palladium and rhodium.

S. # . .

1.1

An acid-chloride leach under oxidizing conditions was used. That is, an Aqua Regia based system was used as the leach reagent. However, part of the hydrochloric acid component of the leach reagent was replaced/substituted by the dissolved metal chloride salt, zinc chloride. This dissolved metal chloride salt, together with the remaining hydrochloric acid portion, acted as the source of chloride ions which are essential for the dissolution of the platinum group metals.

Zinc chloride was utilized as the metal chloride salt, being chosen due to its high solubility in aqueous media and its relative stability at high temperatures. Nitric acid was used as the oxidant.

At high concentrations of dissolved metal chloride salt, it was possible to operate at temperatures which are higher than that of a normal Aqua Regia solution. This high temperature resulted in increasing the overall leaching rate and allowed for the increase in extraction of rhodium to a level which was comparable to both those of platinum and pailadium.

This increase in the rate of reaction, as a result of the increase in operating temperature, will also provide for a decrease in the size of the reactor. Hence reducing the capital cost associated with plant construction.

Zinc chloride, ZnCl<sub>e</sub>, was used as the metal chloride salt due to its property of being extremely soluble.<sup>(ee)</sup>

InCle solubility : 432g per 100g HeO at 25°C 414g per 100g HeO at 100°C

Thus allowing for a leaching solution to have a high concentration of chloride ions, which were necessary for the platinum group metal dissolution. The dissolved rotal chloride salt, zinc chloride, provided the chloride ions needed for the dissolution of the platinum group metals through the formation of their soluble chlorocomplexes. The use of a zinc sclution also insured that the leach reagent was stable. The pyrohydrolysis reaction of zinc chloride is as follows :

4

. P.

(22)

0.0

## $ZnC1_{e}$ + $H_{e}O$ $\Longrightarrow$ ZnO + 2HC1

However this only occurs at temperatures of about 124-130°C. Hence under the chosen leaching conditions of 103°C to 120°C the leach reagent was stable.

A zinc chloride solution is also acidic, pH=1.0 for a 6M solution, which is desired for plat im group metal dissolution.<sup>(27)</sup>

Various concentrations of sinc chlo e in conjunction with mitric acid were tried in order to establish if this type of leaching reagent could be utilized for platinum group metal extraction, without being detrimental to the overall process.

The amount of hydrochloric acid used remained constant in all leachings.

For the extraction of platinum, palladium and rhodium from the tailing concentrate, under an oxidative chloride leach condition, the following reactions can be seen as describing their dissolution.

3P t	÷	4HN03 +	18HC1		3HaPtCla	+	4NO	. <b>4</b> .	8H <sub>R</sub> 0	(23)
3Pd	<b>4</b> -	2HNO <sub>a</sub> +	12HC 1	>	3HaPdC1A	+	2N0	+	4H <sub>e</sub> 0	(24)
Rh	+	HNÖ; +	6HC 1	>	HaRhC1_	+	NO	+	2HaO	(25)

In the system the use of the metal chloride salt, zinc chloride, provided the chloride ions which are used to form the soluble chloride complexes of platinum (PtCl.<sup>e-</sup>), palladium (PdCl.<sup>e-</sup>), and rhodium (RhCl.<sup>e-</sup>).

It also provided for free chloride ions in the final solution and provided that the metal chloride concentration was high, it prevented and/or deterred any loss of the platinum group metals from the leach solution through formation of precipitates. That is, chloride ion concentration in the leach reagent was high therefore ensuring acceptable levels of platinum group metal dissolution, as well as preventing their loss from the solution provided that the acidity of the final solution was relatively low. Reasting of the concentrate, prior to leaching was also tried to determine if it had any effect on the extraction of platinum group metals, specifically platinum, palladium and rhedium.

Aqua Regia leaching of both the original and the roasted concentrate were carried out for comparison with the metal chloride based leach reagent.



Figure 4 : Leach Reactor

### Aqua Regia Leaching

<u>.</u>

It is known that a mixture of hydrochloric acid (HCl) and nitric acid (HNDg), commonly known as Aqua Regia, is an effective leachant of platinum group metals.

**G** (1)

## Aqua Regia Decomposition

On hrating Aqua Regia, an instantaneous and energetic reaction takes place associated with the formation of red-brown fumes.<sup>(20)</sup> Since there are few specific data on Aqua Regia decomposition, it is difficult to establish the exact decomposition reaction. The following represent a number of reactions that have been proposed for the decomposition of Aqua Regia.<sup>(21)</sup>

 $3HC1 + HNO_a \iff NOC1 + C1_a + 2H_aO$  (26)

and/or

 $2HC1 + HNO_{a} \implies HNO_{a} + C1_{a} + H_{a}O$  (27)

Side reaction :

$$C1_{B} + H_{B}O \iff HC1 + HC1O \qquad (28)$$

$$NOC1 \iff NO_{20} + C1 \qquad (27)$$

Hence depending on which decomposition reaction for Aqua Regia is assumed, the dissolution reactions of platinum group metals can be represented in a number of ways.

## Results Of Aqua Regia Leaching

Aqua Regia leaching of the concentrate was carried out in the equipment that was used for the oxidative metal chloride leachings.(Figure 4) The following extractions were obtained.

Table 2 : Aqua Regia Leaching of Concentrate.

l Type of	l Percer	tage Extrac	tion l
l Leach	Pt   Pd	Rh   Fe	I NI I Cr I
			t set i t
l Direct	78.77 86.98	64.13164.13	197.60118.221
l Roasted	88.27 81.57	78.60157.53	178.48113.15

Note : Leach Temperature ca 100°C, Time 2.5hr. Concentrate roasted at 650°C for 1hr.

Aqua Regia leaching of the concentrate resulted in satisfactory platinum group metal extraction, while leaching of the roasted concentrate lead to an improvement in platinum group metal extraction. These results can be compared to those achieved when using the zinc chloride/hydrochloric acid/nitric acid leach reagent.

### Metal Chloride Leaching

A predetermined amount of zinc chloride, by weight, was dissolved in distilled water to produce the desired concentration of metal chloride solution. Concentrated hydrochloric acid(34%) and concentrated nitric acid(55%) were added to the zinc chloride solution to form the cesired leach reagent.

The concentration of hydrochloric acid in all leach reagents was 1.09M, and it provided a proportion of the chloride ions required for the platinum group metal dissolution. The zinc chloride acted as the major chloride ion carrier in the leach reagent.

The reactor was heated, with slow stirring until a temperature of approximately 75°C. At this point the desired amount, by weight, of concentrate was added to the leaching reagent  $(ZnCl_{etec})/HCl/HNO_{c})$ . The mixing rate was increased, up to approximately 500rpm, in order to prevent sedimentation of the solid during leaching and thus allow for optimum extraction of platinum, palladium and rhodium. The time of concentrated addition was taken as the zero time for the leach.

Heating was continued until the leach reagent was boiling. A condensor provided for the return of any evaporated water to the leach solution. Since HCl gas is extremely soluble in water, it would be rapidly dissolved in the condensed water and also be recycled to the reactor. The gas trap was needed for the collection of NO. $_{\odot}$ , which resulted from the decomposition of the oxidant, nitric acid.

On completion of the leach, both heating and stirring of the reaction mixture were stopped and the reaction mixture allowed to cool. During this period of time sedimentation of the solid occurred, thus limiting any further extraction of the platinum group metals to a minimum. At a temperature of  $60^{\circ}$ C to  $65^{\circ}$ C, the reaction mixture was filtered using a buchner vacuum filter. This allowed for a rapid separation of the residual solid and leach solution.

The residual solid was washed, firstly with an acid wash (HC1/H<sub>e</sub>O 1:1), then repeatedly with distilled water until the end filtrate had a pH of 4.

The solid was oven dried, temperature 50°C to 70°C, overnight and a portion taken for digestion.



Figure 5 : Typical Experimental Procedure

100

and the second second

Solid Residue

Note 1 : R/Solid = Residual Solid



~ 25 -

## Digestion Of Residual Solid

(1) 人名法法加德斯特尔 (1)

An accurate weight of solid, was digested firstly with concentrated perchloric acid (70%), followed by an Aqua Regia digestion. The resulting solution was sent for analysis together with leach and wash solutions.

\_\_\_\_\_**8**\_\_\_\$\_\_\_\_

This type of digestion procedure was followed in order to ensure that there was complete solubilization of any remaining platinum group metals. Thus allowing for an accurate determination of the degree of platinum, palladium and rhodium extraction which occurred during the oxidative chloride leach.

## <u>Analysis</u>

Materials containing platinum group metals are noted to be notoriously difficult to analyze.<sup>(31-34)</sup> However, because of their high average atomic numbers, platinum group metals are easily detected on a back-scattered electron image of a scanning electron microscope (SEM) or electron microprobe. The X-ray fluorescence thin-film sample presentation technique has been applied for platinum group metal determination. Combining with fire-assay techniques, the thin-film technique provided a relatively simple analytical method for platinum group metal determination.

Inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) has limits for determining individual platinum group metals as low as ten nanograms per gram.<sup>(37)</sup>

Analysis were carried out by the Council for Mineral Technology (MINTEK), Analytical Science Division.

#### Solution Analysis :

Concentration of Chromium, Nickel and Iron were determined by ICP-DES, while the platinum group metals, Platinum, Palladium and Rhodium were determined by ICP-MS.

#### Solid Analysis :

Concentrations of the individual platinum group metals were determined by atomic absorption on the "prill" collected by fire assay in both original concentrate and residual solids.

Chromium, Nickel and Iron were determined by ICP-DES.
Results And Conclusions

1. Effect Of Roasting

a. Weight Loss On Roasting

A systematic increase in the loss of weight of the concentrate occurred as the temperature of roasting increased. (Table 3, Figure 7)

This loss in weight as roasting temperature increased tan be attributed to the increase in loss of sulphide through the formation of SOs during the roasting procedure. Even though the concentrate was oven dried prior to roasting, the loss of tightly bound water molecules during roasting can not be excluded. Roasting time was 1 to 1.5 hours at the desired temperature.

Roast Temperature	Weight	Loss <sup>1</sup>	l Weight Loss <sup>e</sup>
(°C)	Roast	(%)	Leach (%)
0	0.0		20.74
200	2.0		20.21
430 650 750	3.9		18.43 15.62 11.10

Table 3 : Effect of Roasting Temperature on Weight Loss.

Percentage weight loss during roasting.

2 - Percentage weight loss on subsequent leaching. Leaching carried out under similar conditions.

The decrease in percentage Wright los. ing the subsequent leaching of the roasted concentrate can be explained by the formation of insolubly material during the roasting procedure. The higher the roast temperature, the greater the formation of insoluble, non-extractable , material.

This insoluble material probably consists of iron and/or chromium, which both show the trend of decreased extraction as the temperature of roasting was increased.



%Wt Loss Roasting + %Wt Loss Leaching

#### b. Effect Of Roasting On The Degree Of Extraction

Reasting of the concentrate prior to the oxidative chloride leaching proved to be benefical for the extraction of platinum group metals, especially in the case of platinum. (Table 4)

Table 4 : Roasting Temperature Vs Degree Of Extraction.

IRoast Temperature	Perce	entage Ext	raction
	Pt   Pd	l Rh l F∈	INI   Cr
i o	71.3179.	3:63.9:59.	6197.1111.2
1 200	71.6182.1	163.0161.	5191.1121.1
450	183,0173.1 193.4175.0	)   66 .3 (D1 . )   92 .9 (46 .	2175.31 6.6 1
1 750	87.1 (88.4	2168.0145.	3186.31 8.7 (

Note : leaching carried out under similar conditions. [ZnCl<sub>e</sub>] 3.6729M; HND<sub>2</sub> 10-12.5% (wt/vol) leach temperature 103-105°C; Time 2.5-3hr Liquid/solid ratio 3.9-4.7 (m1/g).

This improvement in the degree of platinum extraction can be explained in two ways.

The roasting of the concentrate, prior to the oxidative chloride leach resulted in the removal of sulphide thereby creating a more readily accessible platinum complex for dissolution.

That is, the formation of the platinum oxide, PtO.

2PtS + 30e ---> 2PtO + 2SOe (30)

On heating, that is under roasting conditions, the formed platinum oxide, PtO dissociated, thus liberating the platinum and thereby making it more available for extraction though the formation of its soluble chlorocomplex.

2Pt0 ------> 2Pt + G<sub>e</sub>(g) (31)

However, if the platinum was not in the form, PtS, in the concentrate the reaction (30) above would not take place during the roasting. However, since the concentrate was a sulphidic mineral concentrate, the general type of reaction that will occur during the roasting procedure would be :

and the second se

2MS +	30,2 (	> ;	2M0 +	250 <sub>8</sub>	(18	>
					(Where I	M=metal)

This type of reaction would cause an opening of the mineral structure, thereby resulting in a greater penetration of the leach reagent. This increase in accessibility of the leach solution towards the platinum group metals, especially platinum, would result in a greater extraction from the roasted concentrate.

Either one or both corditions would therefore have resulted in an increase in the dissolution and hence increased the degree of extraction of platinum from the roasted concentrate on its subsequent oxidative chloride leach.

The relationship between the roasting temperature and the degree of platinum group metal extraction, particularly for platinum, indicated that a temperature of 450°C and above results in an improved extraction.

If the oxide, PtO, was formed during the roasting it would only dissociate to the free metal at temperatures greater than  $200 \Rightarrow C$ . (Se)

This can explain why there was no improvement in the degree of platinum extraction during the subsequent leaching of the concentrate which was roasted at 200°C.

The apparent decrease in palladium extraction in relation to the roasting temperature is possibly explained by the formation of the palladium oxide, PdO, during roasting. The oxide, PdO is insoluble under acidic conditions and only dissociated to the free metal at a temperature of 075-C.(20)

Since the maximum roasting temperature used was 750°C, the dissociation of PdO would therefore not have taken place. Hence the decrease in the degree of extraction observed.

The formation of the metal oxide, MD and loss of SD<sub>a</sub> during roasting is supported by the fact that, when roasting of the concentrate was performed under conditions of reduced oxygen concentration, at 650°C, the extraction of platinum group metals by the subsequent oxidative chloride leach gave results which were comparable to those found during the direct leaching of the concentrate. For example: Platinum extraction was 68.7%.

2 - 19 Ma

That is, under conditions of reduced oxygen content roasting, the formation of oxides and loss of SO<sub>e</sub> is inhibited. This resulted in a situation which could be compared to the use of a non-roasted concentrate.

The above result clearly indicated that the formation of the metal oxide, MJ, during the roasting procedure was the cause of the enhanced platinum extraction rather than that of a simple fracturation of the minerals within the concentrate, which could have occurred as a result of high temperatures.

From the results (Table 4), it is øvident that there was a decrmase in iron extraction as the roasting temperature incrmased.

This decrease as roast temperature increased can be explained as follows.

The iron oxide,  $Fe_BO_B$ , can be formed by heating iron(II) sulphate, iron(II) oxide and roasting iron(II) disulphide (pyrites) in air or oxygen.<sup>(39)</sup> Even though,  $Fe_BO_B$  is essentially basic it reacts only slowly with acids.

Thus as the roasting temperature increased, there would be greater formation of  $Fe_{e}O_{2}$ . This would result in the lowering of iron extraction due to the much reduced dissolution of  $Fe_{e}O_{2}$  in the acidic leach reagent.

For Nickel extraction, the results (Table 4) indicated that there was an apparent optimum extraction at a roasting temperature of 450°C.

This optimum in the extraction of nickel at a roast temperature of 450°C was also established by Shukla'\*\*\*, who stated that "for good nickel recovery from a sulphide concentrate the optimum roasting temperature was between 450°C and 500°C for acid leaching."

Reid (4: ) found a similar result.

From the results discussed, it is clearly evident that the main minerals in the concentrate are most likely to be cooperite (PtS) and braggite ((Pt,Pd,Ni)S), since the result of the reduced oxygen content roasting lead to a degree of extraction of platinum, palladium and rhodium which were comparable with those established for leaching of the unroasted concentrate. This is consistent with the source of concentrate being the Merensky Reef.

----

### 2. Effect Of Metal Chloride Concentration On Extraction

The density of an equeous zinc chloride solution can be used as an indicator to its concentration. Hence by measuring the density, one could readily determine the concentration of the various zinc chloride solutions which were utilized for the leaching of the concentrate. (Table 5, Figure 8) In this way the effect of concentration of the ziac chloride based leach solution on the decree of extraction was determined.

Table 5 : Relationship Between Density And Concentration For Zinc Chloride Solutions.

For 2096		l Eor	60°C
Density* (CZn	C1#J <sup>#</sup>	Øensity*	¦[ZnCl <sub>R</sub> ]≊
1.24       1         1.29       1         1.36       2         1.43       3         1.43       3         1.53       4         1.59       5         1.61       5	.25 .85 .40 .40 .75 .45 .10 .35	1.235 1.350 1.410 1.495 1.570 1.655	2.50 3.45 4.10 4.90 5./5 6.70

1 - Density of ZnCla(aq) g/cm?. 2 - Concentration of ZnCle M.

However, it must be noted that the density of the zinc chloride solution is dependent on the solution temperature. Consequently all density determinations had be done at the same temperature in order to achieve a correct value for the concentration of the zinc chlorise solutions used for the leaching. All density measurements were done at room temperature.



### 2. Effect Of Metal Chloride Concentration On Extraction

#### a. Direct Leaching Of Concentrate

Direct leaching of the concentrate using the leach reagent, zinc chloride(aq)/hydrochloric acid/nitric acid resulted in the following extractions. (Table 6, Figures 9-12)

Table 6 : Effect of Zinc Chloride Concentration on Extraction.

Density     p/cmª   Pt		Percei   Pd	itage 1 Rh	Extr. I Ni	action / Fe	n   I Gr i	% Weig	ant.
		<b></b> ,	, 	<b> </b>	+	, }	مر بر بر بر رو م من من من من م	
1 1.270	177.0	:81.2	161.6	195.7	154.6	1 1.41	8.47	n na dia Anglia
1 1.272	185.9	186.3	67.7	72.3	43.3	11.41	20.14	1
1.359	153.9	182.8	61.4	194.3	:61.9	17.11	20.94	gi ta s
1 1.368	180.7	181.2	65.7	189.1	60.4	14.21	20.53	
1.376	179.2	149.0	165.2	196.2	157.3	14.61	22.29	
1,391	168.3	168.9	52.8	96.7	156.5	5.41	23.42	
1 1,396	180.0	179.9	63.5	97.4	161.7	12.7	23.40	
1.411	179.4	174.0	64.5	<u>77.8</u>	156.6	1 <u>2.2</u> 1	20.83	
1.420	178.6	184.2	63.3	97.6	164.4	17.61	28.18	
1 1 495	164.4	178.6	67.6	96.8	1 <u>72.3</u>	1 <u>51 8</u> 1	17.45	

Note : 1 - Percentage Weight loss on leaching. 2 - <u>Erroneous results</u> - due to analysis problems. PGM analysis is difficult particularly when the concentrations are low. The presents of Cr can also lead to erroneous results due to interference.

All leaching were carried out under similar conditions. Nitric acid 9.77-20.81% (wt/vol); Temperature 1029C-1109C Time 2.5-3hr; Liquid/Solid ratio 3.55-6.9 (ml/g).

The distribution of results is primarily due to the fact that the concentrations within the refractory concentrate were low. Particularly for platinum, palladium and rhodium.

Average extractions excluding the erroneous results are : Platinum (Pt) 78.64% Palladium (Pd) 81.03% Rhodium (Rh) 64.50% Nickel (Ni) 95.47% Iron (Fe) 59.42% Chromium (Cr) 14.93% Average percentage weight loss on leaching : 22.13%

# Figure 9 Density Vs % Extraction Direct Leaching



Platinum (Pt)



. . .



# Figure 11 Density Vs % Ex. action Direct Leaching

а.,



Rhodium (Rh)





- 39

2. Effect Of Metal Chloride Concentration On Extraction

### b. Leaching of Roasted Concentrate

Square & Sec. 18

Leaching of a roasted concentrate using the leach reagent, zinc chloride(aq)/hydrochloric acid/nitric acid resulted in the following extractions.(Table 7, Figures 13-18)

Table	7.	Effect	of Zinc	Chl	. ide	Conce	n tra	tion
		on Ext	raction.					

Dansity g/cm <sup>a</sup>	Perce   Pt   Pd	ntage   Rh	Extract: Ni   Fe	Lon     Cr	% Weight Loss <sup>1</sup>
1.312	185.9186.3	167.71	72.3143.	3111.41	12.81
1,321	194.1181.5	188.51	88.8146	21 6.01	18.87
1.391	195.4180.2	186.51	92.4150.	51 3.41	20.00
1.405	193.6171.7	187.01	88.3:45.	11 7.41	17.41
1.410	183.0173.5	66.31	95.3151,	31 6.61	18.43
1,431	189.1 188.2	168.01	86.3:45.	31 8.71	11.10
1.449	189.4177.6	175.51	85.6141.	91 8,71	16.89
1.452	192,8180.1	183.01	93.9151.	5!!	20.50
1.465	186.3172.3	81.11	81.0:40.	0114.31	14.50
1.468	193.4175.0	182.91	89.2146.	1 8.31	15.62
1.494	193.9177.1	59.9	74.9126.	1: 3.1	11.55
1.516	188.1185.7	80.41	79.4155.	1 40.7	14,90
1.520	1 2.9183.9	84.31	79.7145.	8:14.2:	10.46
1.570	197.1 189.0	90.01	88.9144.	71 5.31	16.67
1.610	188.7176.9	77.41	72.5:51.	21 6.61	17.33
1.620	192.0172.4	81.21	76.51 <u>29</u>	<u>B</u>   <u>1.7</u>	12.00

Note : 1 - Percentage Weight loss on leaching. 2 - <u>Erroneous results</u> - due to analysis problems. PGM analysis is difficult particularly when the concentrations are low. The presents of Cr can also lead to interference.

All leaching were carried out under similar conditions. Nitric acid 9.99-24.97% (wt/vol); Temperature 103=C-123=C Time 1.5-3hr; Liquid/Solid ratio 3.64-6.9 (ml/g). Concentrate roasted at 650=C for 1hr.

The distribution of results is primarily due to the fact that the concentrations within the refractory concentrate were low. Particularly for platinum, palladium and rhodium.

Average e	xtract	ions exc	luding	the erro	meous	result	s are	
Platinum	(Pt)	90.85%					44 A.	
Palladium	(Pd)	79.46%		1. 1. A.	·			
Rhodium	(Rh)	80.12%			· .			
Nickel	(N1)	85.31%		4				: '
Iron	(Fe)	47.54%			· · ·	•		
Chromium	(Cr)	8.86%		·:	· · · ·			. •
Aversee be		300 WQ 10	ht imee	on lose	thing .	16 87		

40



- 41 -



- 42 -

# Figure 15 Density Vs % Extraction Roasted Concentrate



Rhodium (Rh)

# Figure 16 Density Vs % Extraction Roasted Concentrate



Nickel (Ni)

# Figure 17 Density Vs % Extraction Roasted Concentrate



Iron (Fe)

# Figure 18 Density Vs % Extraction Roasted Concentrate

1



Chromium.(Cr)

The results of leaching when using different concentrations of zinc chloride both for the direct and the roasted concentrates indicated similar extractions, particularly for platinum, palladium and rhodium. The only difference between the two sets of results, Table 6 and 7, is that leaching of the roasted concentrate resulted in the previously established increased platinum group metal extraction.

Since the solubility of the platinum group metals will be governed by the availability of chloride ions, it is the availability of the "free", unassociated chloride ions which will be the controlling factor in the platinum group metal dissolution.

Zinc (11) ions are strongly complexed in chloride solution. The type of ion species in solution change mainly as a function of the chloride ion concentration.<sup>(48)</sup> The following equation (32) represents the various species which can be present in solution :

Zn=++C1- ≥ ZnC1++C1- ≥ ZnC1=+C1- ≥ ZnC1a-+C1- ≥ ZnC14=-

For low chloride concentration, the main species in solution are  $Zn^{2+}$  and  $ZnC1^{+}$ . For high chloride concentration, the main species in solution are  $ZnC1_{2}^{-}$  and  $ZnC1_{4}^{2-}$ .

Thus accordingly the following situation arose in the leaching solutions :

At a relatively low concentration of  $Cl^{-}(4.452M)$ , zinc chloride concentration of 2.226M (Density 1.31g/cm<sup>2</sup>), the dominant zinc species in solution would be ZnCl<sup>+</sup>. Hence the total amount of free chloride ions would be from the dissociated zinc chloride as well as those from the hydrochloric acid and be in the order of 3.32M.

At a relatively high concentration of  $Cl^{-}(11.13M)$ , zinc chloride concentration of 5.565M (Density 1.64g/cm<sup>2</sup>), the dominant zinc species in solution would be  $ZnCl_{\varpi}^{-}$  and  $ZnCl_{\pi}^{e^{-}}$ . However, the zinc species in solution would be in an active equilibrium with one another as represented in the equation (32) above due to the high  $Cl^{-}$  concentration. If it is postulated that at any given time, under this high chloride ion concentration approximately 70% of the zinc species were in the  $ZnCl_{\pi}^{-}$  and  $ZnCl_{\pi}^{m-}$  forms, then the total amount of free  $Cl^{-}$  ions would be in the order of 3.66M.

47 -

At a middle order concentration of Cl-(7M), zinc chloride concentration 3.5M (Density 1.44g/cm<sup>2</sup>), the zinc species in solution can be represented equally by the equation (32) with no single dominating species. Thus at any given time, approximately 60% of the total chloride ions present would us associated with zinc metal ions. Hence the total concentration of free chloride ions would be in the order of 3.24M.

It can be concluded that under the leaching conditions of relatively low (2.226M), medium (3.5M) and high (5.565M) zinc chloride concentrations, the availability of free unassociated chloride ions within the leach solution were approximately equal.

That is, the available chloride ion concentration for the dissolution of the platirum group metals wore in the range of 3.24 to 3.66M.

Thus resulting in the similar extractions of platinum, palladium and rhodium which were experienced when different concentrations of zinc chloride were used in the leach reagent.

That is, the use of different concentrations of zinc chloride resulted in similar amounts of free chloride ions being present in the leaching solution and thus resulted in similar, comparable degrees of platinum group metal extractions between the different zinc chloride concentrations.

For cirect leaching, the apparent dependency shown by the degrees of extractions towards concentrations of zinc chloride was a secondary effect. The primary effect was the temperature dependency of the rate of extraction of the platinum group metals. At higher zinc chloride concentration, leaching temperature was higher, thus the degree of extraction from the unroasted concentrate increased. (Leaching was always carried out in the boiling state of the leach reagent) It was this effect of the temperature which provided for the increase in the extraction of platinum group metals.

It is concluded that within this zinc chloride concentration range (2-6M), the chloride ion concentration which was needed for the dissolution of the platinum group metals through the formation of the soluble chlorocomplexes, was not a controlling or limiting factor in the extraction of the platinum group metals from the roasted concentrate. However, the concentration did play a role when direct leaching of the concentrate was done due to its influence on the leaching temperature. This implies that, the main controlling factor concerned with the dissolution will be the accessibility of the leach reagent towards the platinum group metals.

This is evident owing to the fact that extraction of the platinum group metals from the roasted concentrate was higher than that found in the direct leaching. That is, roasting of the concentrate prior to the oxidative chloride leach intreased the accessibility of the leach reagent to the pi cinum group metals. Thus resulting in higher degrees of extractions.

#### 3. Oxidant Concentration

#### a. Leaching Of Roasted Concentrate

When the oxidant, nitric acid, concentration was varied from 5.48% to 24.97%(wt/vol), it resulted in a similar degree of extraction for the platinum group metals of platinum, palladium and rhodium. (Table 8. Figure 19)

Table 8 : Oxidant Concentration vs % Extraction.

EHND <sub>a</sub> J		Percen	tage E	ftrac ti	
%(wt/vol)	1	Pt	l Pd	l Rh	
5.48	1	72.0	1 72.4	1 81.2	
10.04	ł	93.4	1 75.0	1 82.9	
11.24		87.4	1 77.6	1 75.5	· ·
24.97		72.8	1 80.1	1 83.0	

Note: All leaching were carried out under similar conditions, using roasted concentrate. Roasting done at 650°C for 1 hr.

This apparent independence of the degree of extraction towards the oxidant concentration can be explained by the fact that the leaching time was relatively short, only 2.5 to 3 hours. This short time resulted in preventing the large loss of nitric acid through its decomposition. It can be concluded that, the extraction of platinum group metals when utilizing the leaching reagent, zinc chloride/hydrochloric acid/nitric acid occurred at a extremely rapid rate.

Thus when the level of nitric acid, which was continuously reduced through decomposition, reached the stage when it would prevent further dissolution of the platinum group metals, the dissolution had already been completed.

This affect of the oxidant concentration being a nor-limiting factor within the above concentration range, was highlighted when the oxidant was added incrementally during the leach.

When the nitric acid concentration was kept const nt throughout the leaching process it was established that the extraction of the platinum group metals were comparable to those in which all the oxidant was added initially.

## Figure 19 Oxidant Concentration Vs % Extraction Roasted Concentrate



\* Rhodium (Rh)

in singe

- 51 -

### 3. Oxidant Concentration

### b. Direct Leaching Of Concentrate

The direct leaching of the concentrate showed a similar tend of the non-dependenc of the platinum group metal extraction towards the oxidant, nitric acid, concentration. (Table 9. Figure 20)

Table 9 : Oxidant Concentration vs % Extraction.

CHN0,, 1	Percen	tage Ex	traction
%(wt/vol)	Pt	l Pd	1 Rh
10.12 /	80.7	1 81.2	1 65.7
10.21 !	80.0	1 79.9	1 63.5
12.48	77.0	1 81 .2	1 61.6
20.81	78.6	1 84.2	1 63.3

## Note: All leaching were carried out under similar conditions.

One can concluded from the results of leaching the roasted and non-roasted concentrate, that the apparent independence of the extraction on the oxidant concentration indicites that the dissolution of the platinum group metals occurred rapidly.

It must be noted that a large proportion of the nitric acid (oxidant) would be used in the discolution of other non-platinum group metals as well as being lost through its decomposition which was clearly visible during the leachings by observing the evolution of red-brown gaseous products. (NO<sub>x</sub> - type gaseous products)

The use of the zinc chloride/hydrochloric acid mixture as the source of the chloride ions resulted in the high activity of the chloride ions towards platinum group metals complexation. Hence, provided that there was an adequate amount of oxidant present, the dissolution of platinum group metals by chloro-complexation occurred readily and rapidly.

## Figure 20 Oxidant Concentration Vs % Extraction Direct



Platinum (Pi) + Palladium (Pd)
\* Rhodium (Ri)

4. Leaching Temperature

a. Direct Leaching Of Concentrate

The liberation of platinum group metals from refractory minerals, particularly the kinetics of platinum group metal sulphide and arsenide oxidation, are highly dependent on the leaching temperature. This effect was highlighted when direct leachings of the concentrate were carried out. (Table 10, Figures 21 & 22)

Table 10 : Leaching Temperature vs % Extraction.

l Temperature	P	ercentage	Extracti	lon
(=C)	Pt	P4   Rh	I Fe I Ni	Cr
84-87	66.4	68.2(59.7	157.5191,	.9;16.3;
103	74.6	80.1(59.4	159.6193.	4;14.1;
108	80.7	81.2(65.7	160.4189.	.2;14.2;

Note : Leaching were carried out under similar conditions.

Both platinum and palladium showed a substantial increase in their degrees of extractions when the leaching temperature was increased. Rhodium extraction also increased with higher temperatures, however the effect was less marked. Extraction of the base metals, nickel, iron and chromium

There exists an upper temperature limit for the leaching due to the stability of the leach reagent. The pyrohydrolysis reaction of zinc chloride will result in the loss of stability of the leach reagent, however this only occurs at temperatures of greater than 124°C.

showed no real dependency towards leaching temperature.

This loss of stability of the leach reagent would not nave been a factor in the leaching experiments, since the leaching temperature was always below 124°C.









Temperature (°C)

• Iron (Fe) + Nickel (Ni) \* Chromium (Cr)

- 56 --

### 4. Leaching Temperature

#### b. Leaching Of Roasted Concentrate

When roasted concentrate was used and the leach temperature was varied, there was no definite increases in the degree of extraction of platinum, palladium or rhodium.

(Table 11, Figures 23 & 24)

Table 11 : Leaching Temperature vs % Extraction.

Temperature	l	Perce	ntage	Extr	'actic	n
(-C)	I Pt	I Pd	Rh	1 Fe	↓ Ni	Cr
105 110 110 114 123	173.4 187.4 195.4 188.7 188.7	175.0 177.6 180.2 176.9	182.7 175.5 186.5 177.4 181.2	146.1 141.9 150.5 151.8	187.2 185.7 192.5 192.5 192.5	+  2  8.3  7  8.7  5  3.4  5  6.6  1  1.7

Note : Leaching were carried out under similar conditions. Concentrate roasted at 650°C for 1hr.

This was expected since during the pretreatment of the concentrate, the roasting procedure, resulted in oxidation of the concentrate minerals.

That is, the sulphide minerals present in the concentrate were oxidized according to the general reaction :

2MS	+ 30e	> 2M0 + 250a	(18)
			(Where M=Metal)

Thus the dependency of the kinetics of platinum group metal sulphide oxidation on the leaching temperature would no longer be an influencing factor. Hence, the extractions of platinum, palladium and rhodium from the roasted concentrate would not be affected to any large degree by the leaching temperature.

Provided that the leach reagent was in its boiling state, extractions were effectively independent of the leach temperature.

Data obtained when plotted for the shrinking core model and diffusion controlled mechanism of leaching did not support either of the two mechanisms. However the data obtained was insufficient to establish any adequate conclusions.





- 58 -





-. 59

17.7

#### 5, Leaching Time

Leaching of the roasted concentrate with only the time of leaching being varied indicated that the extraction of platinum, palladium and rhodium, was extremely rapid and increased to a maximum level after 1.5 hours before showing a gradual decrease. The base mutals, iron and nickel also showed this rapid extraction. (Table 12, Figures 25-28)

Table 12 : Leaching Time vs % Extraction.

Leach Tire	Percentage Extraction
(Hours)	Pt   Pd   Rh   Fe   Ni
0.25	169.3185.5170.1136.4144.51 186.3172.3181.1140.0181.01
1.5	195.4180.2186.5150.5192.51
2.5	192.0179.1183.1149.1187.51
3.0	189.1181.6176.2145.1183.01

Note : Leaching were carried out under similar conditions. Concentrate roasted at 650°C for 1hr. [ZnCl<sub>s</sub>] 3.6729M; HNO<sub>2</sub> 10-12.5%; Temp 105°C-110°C.

This rapid extraction, especially for platinum, palladium and rhodium can be explained by the following factors :

(1) Pretreatment of concentrate.

Roasting of the concentrate at 650°C for 1 hour prior to leaching, resulted in the oxidation of sulphidic minerals and hence liberated the platinum group metals.

(ii) Kinetics of placinum group metal sulphide oxidation. Roasting of the concentrate prior to leaching effectively nullified the relative slow kinetics of platinum group metal oxidation which occurs during the direct leaching of sulphidic minerals.

(iii) The high concentration of culoride ions in the leach reagent drove the formation of soluble complex chlorides to completion. That is, the high chloride ion content of the leaching solution caused a rapid dissolution of the liberated platinum group metals via fast formation of the soluble chlorocomplexes.

The platinum group metals being liberated duting the roasting procedure.

Tyson and Bautista (\*\*\* ) also established that the rate of both platinum and palladium dissolution into a relatively weak Aqua Regia solution was rapid and started at a relatively high value.

The rapid extraction by the zinc chloride based leach reagent, with the maximum level reached after 1.5 hours also explained why there was no apparent effect of the dissolution rates towards oxidant concentration. Since the dissolution of the platinum group metals • me fast, the majority being dissolved after only ha? • hour, the initial oxidant concentration during the period would always be relatively high. Thus result in a situation in which there was a sufficient concentration of oxidant present and hence in an apparent non-dependency of the oxidant concentration on the degree of platinum group metal extraction.

The decrease in percentage extraction of platinum and rhodium (Figures 25 & 27), as the leach time was extended is a result of the establishment of the complex equilibria involved for the chlorocomplex formation within the leaching solution.

Also the loss of chloride ions from the leach reagent can not be excluded even through the majority of HCl gas produced during the leaching would be returned to the reactor via its dissolution in the condensed water vapor.

The decrease in the degree of iron extraction as leach time was extended indicates that there was precipitation of iron from solution, most likely as a result of hydrolysis.

- 61 -














#### 6. Three Stage Leaching

A three stage leaching, as shown in Figure 27, was carried out using the roasted concentrate. At each leaching stage a new, "fresh" leach solution  $(ZnCl_{e}/HCl/HNO_{e})$  was used in order to obtain maximum extractions, particularly for platinum, palladium and rhodium.

The following results were obtained : (Table 13, Figures 30,31)

Table 13 ; Three Stage Leaching.

ILeach	Leach	Per	centare	Extr	action	ג≊
IStage	Time¹	Pt I P	d / Rh	Fe	Ni	רך
1	3	193.4173	.0/82.9	46.1	189.2	8.2
2	6	196.4193	.2/87.7	61.1	194.8	8.4
3	7	198.4193	.2/91.4	66.2	196.6	12.9

Note : 1 - Cumulative Leach Time. 2 - Cumulative Percentage Extraction. All leaching were carried out under similar conditions.

The use of "fresh" solution for the leaching of the residual solid resulted in a high overall extraction of the platinum group metals. All three, platinum, palladium and rhodium were extracted o levels of greater than 90%. Platinum 98.4%, Palladium 97.3%, Rhodium 91.6% after leaching for 9 hours.

The use of "fresh" leach regents insured that there would be a high concentration of available chloride ions and oxidant present during leaching. Thus allowing for maximum platinum group metal dissolution.

For rhodium extraction, the increase in the degree of extraction can be attributed to the relatively slow kinetics involved in the formation of the chlorocomplex, RhCl4<sup>2-- (9)</sup>, as well as to the tendency of the metal to form a kinetically inert layer of chloride (or oxide) at its surface.

Thus a longer leach time was required for the dissolution of rhodium in order to obtain a degree of extraction which was comparable to that of platinum and palladium.

# Figure 29 : Three Stage Leaching



- 67 -

Note 1 : Roasting at 650°C for 1 hour

# Figure 30 Solid Residue Leaching PGM Extraction







Amongst the other metals considered, only nickel was extracted to a level of greater than 90%. However, of the three base metals, it was iron which showed the greatest increase in extraction from 1st to 3rd leaching stage, increasing from 46.1% to 66.2%.

This increase in iron dissolution as the overall time of leaching was extended, strongly supports the view that the iron oxide,  $Fe_{e}O_{2}$ , was formed during the roasting procedure.

Even though the iron oxide,  $Fe_2O_2$ , is essentially alkaline, it reacts slowly with acids.<sup>(29)</sup> Hence the need for a longer reaction time for its dissolution.

It is interesting to note that during each subsequent leaching stage, the percentage weight loss of the solid decreased markedly from one stage to the other.

#### Table 14 : Residual Solid Leaching Percentage Weight Loss.

:	lLeach	1 L	each	3	Veight	Loss
	IStage	1 T	ime¹		Percen	tage <sup>e</sup>
	1 2		3	   	15.62	

Note : 1 - Cumulative Leach Time.

2 - Percentage Weight Loss During Leach.

All leach carried out under similar conditions.

This indicated that there was a fairly substantial proportion of the concentrate that was insoluble under these leaching conditions. This can be related to a large amount of unreactable silicate present within the concentrate, together with a portion of non-soluble metal oxides which were formed during the pretreatment of the concentrate. That is, the roasting stage.

However, even so the excellent extraction of platinum, palladium and rhodium indicated that there was no detrimental effect caused by the roasting of the concentrate. In fact, as stated previously the pretreatment of the concentrate had a definite advantage toward improving the extractions of the platinum group metals.

#### 7. Distribution Of Extracted Metals

A typical distribution of the extracted metals within the leach and wash solutions after leaching of the concentrate and washing of the residual solid material are shown below.

Table 15 : Extracted Metal Distribution.

Note : 1 - Percentage distribution of amounts of extracted metals. Acid Wash was a solution of 1:1 HCl:H<sub>e</sub>O.

It is evident that approximately 90% of the extracted metals, both the platinum group and base metals, were found in the zinc chloride/hydrochloric acid/nitric acid leach solution.

This was expected since the high chloric 1 ion content of the leach reagent provided for the dissolution and maintained solubilization of the metals, especially true for the platinum group metals. The high chloride content ensured that the platinum group metals were maintained in their soluble chlorocomplex configuration in the leaching reagent.

The acid wash, a 1:1 ratio HCl to  $H_{\rm e}O$ , contained approximately 9% of the platinum group metals. This acid wash ensured that if any loss of the platinum group metals occurred by precipitation, they would be redissolved due to the application of a solution containing free chloride ions.

71 -

The water washes contained less than 1% of the total extracted metals.

For the base metals, nickel, iron and chromium, an almost identical distribution pattern was found. Again explained by the availability of chloride ions in order for soluble complex formation.

The distribution of the dissolved metals being associated to the amount of chloride ions present thereby allowing for chlorocomplex formation.

This system of washing of the residual solid, first with an acid wash followed by water washing had the added benefit of enabling maximum extractions of the metals from the concentrate. Thus, the residual solid that was to be discarded was essentially stripped of all of the valuable materials

The washing procedure also ensures for environmental protection on the disposal of the solid residual.

present in the initial concentrate.

This type of distribution of the extracted platinum, palladium, rhodium, iron, nickel and chromium has the added advantage when considering their recovery. Since the majority of the dissolved/extracted metals, particularly the platinum group metals, occur in one solution, that is the leach solution, techniques for the recovery of the metals possibly need only to concern one type of solution.

A PGM recovery process based on the utilization of only one type of solution, the leaching solution, will definitely be much more cost effective than one which concerns the use of a number of different types of solutions.

#### Summary Of Conclusions

 Clearly the use of the zinc chloride based leaching reagent was not detrimental to the extraction of the platinum group metals, platinum, palladium and rhodium when compared to that of Aqua Regia leaching. The use of the metal chloride based leach reagent resulted in a higher leaching temperature, hence levels of extractions of platinum, palladium and rhodium were comparable with one another.

Average degree of extraction for the metal chloride based leach reagent were :

	Leach	Platinum	Palladium	Rhodium
1	Direct	78,64%	81.03%	64.50%
	Roasted 1	70.85%	1 77.46%	80.12%

The use of zinc chloride/hydrochloric acid mixture as the source of chloride ions resulted in a high activity of chloride ions towards platinum group metal complexation. Provided there was an adequate amount of oxidant

present, dissolution of platinum, palladium and rhodium occurred readily and rapidly.

- 2. Within the zinc chloride concentration range of 2M to 6M, the chloride ion concentration which was required for the dissolution of the platinum group metals through the formation of the soluble chlorocomplexes, 'as not a limiting factor in the extraction of the platinum, palladium and rhodium.
- 3. Roasting of concentrate prior to oxidative chloride leach was benifical for the extraction of platinum group metals, especially platinum. Since i
  - Roasting resulted in removal of sulphide thereby creating a more readily accessible platinum complex.That is, possible formation of PtD, which dissociated to the metal at temperatures greater than 200°C.
  - ii) The concentrate was a sulphidic mineral concentrate thus roasting caused formation of metal oxides and corresponding SO<sub>R</sub> release which lead to the opening of the mineral structure for greater penetration of the leach reagent.

an the second second

- 4. The loss of weight as reasting temperature increased was attributed to an increased loss of sulphide through  $SO_R$  formation.
- 5. A decrease in the percentage weight loss during the subsequent leaching of roasted concentrate was due to the formation of insoluble material during the roasting procedure.
- 6. There was rapid extractions of platinum, palladium and rhodium. Pt 95.4%, Pd 80.2%, Rh 86.5% in 1.5 hours.

Owing to the fact that :

- Roasting of the concentrate prior to leaching liberated the platinum group metals by oxidation.
- 11) The relatively slow kinetics of platinum group metal oxidation which occur during the leaching of a sulphidic concentrate were nullified by the roasting procedure.
- iii) High concentration of the chloride ions in the leach solution drove the formation of the chlorocomplexes of platinum, palladium and rhodium.
- 7. The main limiting factor for the dissolution of the platinum group metals was found to be the accessibility of the leach reagent towards platinum, palladium and rhodium.
- B. An oxidant concentration range of 5.48% to 24.97% resulted in similar degrees of extractions. That is, it was not a limiting factor in the extractions of platinum, palladium and rhodium from the concentrate.
- 9. For the direct leaching of the concentrate, the degrees of extractions greatly increased when the leaching temperature was increased.

Particularly for platinum and palladium. Pt increased from 66.4% to 80.7% Pd increased from 68.2% to 81.2% For a leach temperature increase from 87°C to 108°C.

10. For the roasted concentrate, the degree of extraction was independent of the leach temperature. This was due to the fact that roasting of the concentrate lead to oxidation of the minerals. Hence the dependency of the kinetics of platinum group metal sulphide oxidation on leach temperature no longer applied.

Pt 93.4% Pd 75.0% Rh 82.9% for leach temperature 105°C Pt 92.0% Pd 72.8% Rh 81.2% for leach temperature 123°C

 A three stage leaching of the roasted concentrate lead to high overall extractions of platinum, palladium and rhodium.

Pt 78.4% ; Pd 93.2% ; Rh 91.4%

The use of "fresh" leach reagent insured that there was a high concentration of "free" chloride ions. The the high chloride ion concentration drove the formation of the soluble chlorocomplexes of the platinum group metals.

For rhodium extraction, the increase in the percentage extraction as the leach time increased was attributed to the relatively slow kinetics involved in the formation of the chlorocomplex.

- 12. High chloride ion concentration of the leach reagent resulted in the majority of the platinum group metals, approximately 90%, being present in the leach solution. Thus resulting in the advantage of only having one type of solution when dealing with the recover of the platinum group metals.
- 13. The use of actal chloride salts other than zinc chloride as the chloride ion carrier in the leach reagent are possible. Provided that the metal chloride salt has a relatively high solubility which will result in a leach reagent which has a chloride ion concentration in the range of 4 M to 12 M, and it will be stable under the leaching conditions of 105°C to 120°C.

## References

1 .

- Kirk-Othmer, <u>Encyclopedia Of Chemical Technology</u>, Vol. 18, 3rd Edition, Wiley-Interscience Publication, 1980.
- 2. Hochreiter, R.C., Kennedy, D.C., Muir, W., and Wood, A.L. Platinum In South Africa, <u>J. S. Afr. Inst. Min. Metall</u>, Vol. 85, No. 6, 1985, pp. 165-185.
- 3. Taggart, A.F. (Editor), <u>Han wok Of Mineral Dressing</u>, Vol. 1, John-Wiley and Sons Inc., 1956.
- Considine, D.M. (Editor), <u>Chemical And Process</u> <u>Technolygy Encyclopedia</u>, McGraw-Hill Book Company Inc., 1974.
- 5. Kirk-Othmer, <u>Encyclopedia Of Chemical Technology</u>, Vol. 9, 3rd Edition, Wiley-Interscience Publication, 1980.
- 6. Winand, R. Chloride Hydrometallurgy, <u>Hydrometallurgy</u>, Vol. 27, No. 3, 1991, pp. 285-316.
- 7. Wadsworth, M.E. Hydrometallurgy-Past, Present And Future, In, Osseo-Asure, K., and Miller, J.D. (Editors), <u>Hydrometallurgy Research, Development And</u> <u>Plant Practice</u>, AIME, 1983, pp. 3-38.
- 8. Monhemius, J. Hydrometallurgical Processing Of Complex Materials, <u>Chem. and Ind</u>, June, 1981, pp. 410-420.
- Edwards, R.I. Refining Of The Platinum Group Metals, JOM, August, 1976, pp. 4-9.
- Letowski, F.K., and Distin, P.A. Platinum And Palladium Recovery From Spent Catalysts By Aluminum Chloride Leaching, <u>Precious Metals</u>, IPMI, 1985, pp. 735-745.
- Letowski, F.K., and Distin, P.A. Platinum And Palladium From Scrapped Catalytic Converters By A Chloride Leach Route - Laboratory Results And Pilot Plant Design, In, Davies, G.A. (Editor), <u>Separation</u> <u>Processes In Hydrometallurgy</u>, Ellis Horwood Limited Publishers, 1987, pp. 68-76.

and the second second

- 12. Letowski, F.K., and Distin, P.A. Development Of Aluminum Chloride Leach Process For Platinum And Palladium Recovery From Scrapped Automotive Catalyst, Precious Metals, IPMI, 1989, pp. 41-49.
- Bolinski, L., and Distin, P.A. Platinum And Rhodium Recovery From Scrapped Honeycomb Autocatalyst By Chloride Leaching And Hydrogen Reduction, <u>Precious</u> <u>Metals</u>, IPMI, 1991, pp. 179-189.
- Kirk-Othmer, <u>Encyclopedia Of Chemical Technology</u>, Vol. 12, 3rd Edition, Wiley-Interscience Publication, 1980.
- Cabri, L.J. The Mineralogy Of The Platinum Group Elements, <u>Mineral Sci. Eng</u>., 4, 1972, pp. 3-27.
- 16, Wedepohl, K.H. (Editor), <u>Handbook Of Geochemistry</u>, Springer-Verlag, 1978.
- 17. Cotton, F.A and Wilkinson, G. <u>Advanced Inordanic</u> <u>Chemistry</u>, 4th Edition, Wiley-Interscience Publication, 1980.
- Breenwood, N.N., and Earnshaw, A. <u>Chemistry Of The</u> <u>Elements</u>, Pergama Press, 1984.
- Mountain, B.W., and Wood, S.A. Chemical Controls On The Solubility, Transport and Decomposition Of Platinum And Palladium In Hydrothermal Solutions : A Thermodynamic Approach, <u>Economic Ceology</u>, Vol. 63, 1988, pp. 492-510.
- Baes, C.F., and Mesmer, R.E. (Editors), <u>The</u> <u>Hydrolysis Of Cations</u>, Wiley-Interscience Publication, 1976.
- 21. Weast, R.C., (Editor), <u>CRC Handbook Of Chemistry And</u> <u>Physics</u>, 69th Edition, CRC Press, 1988.
- 22. Weiss, N.L. (Editor), <u>SME Mineral Processing</u> <u>Handbook</u>, Society Of Mining Engineers, AIME, 1985.
- 23. Peyerl, W. The Metallurgical Implications Of The Mode Of Occurrence Of Platinum-Group Metals In The Merensky Reef And UG-2 Chromitite Of The Bushveld Complex, <u>Seol. Soc. S. Afr.</u> Spec. Publ. 7, 1983, pp. 275-300.
- 24. Vermaak, C.F. The UG-2 Layer, South African's Slumbering Chromite Giant, <u>Chromium Reviews</u>, No. 5, November, 1985, pp. 9-22.

¢i.

- 25. Von Gruenewaldt, G., and Hatton, C.J. Platinum Group Metals- A Resource in The Tailings Of Chromium Mines In South Africa, <u>J. 5. Afr. Inst. Min. Metall</u>., Vol. 87, No. 7, 1987, pp. 265-268.
- 24. Yopps, D.L., and Baglin, E.G. <u>Serial Preoxidation Of</u> Stillwater Complex, MT, Platinum Group Metal Flotation Concentrate And Recovery Of Platinum Group Metals By Cvanidation ad Other Leachants, Int. Bu. Mines, Report 9371.
- 27. Swash, P.M., and Ellis, P. The Roasting Of Arsenical Gold Dres : A Mineralogical Perspective, <u>Gold 100</u>, <u>Proceeding Of The International Conference On Gold</u>, Vol. 2, SAIMM, 1986, pp. 235-257.
- 28. Weast, R.C. (Editor), <u>CRC Handbook Of Chemistry And</u> <u>Physics</u>, 67th Edition, CRC Press, 1986.
- 29. Kirk-Othmer, <u>Encyclopedia Of Chemical Technology</u>, Vol. 24, 3rd Edition, John Wiley and Sons, 1984.
- 30. Habashi, F. <u>Extraction Metallurgy</u>, Vol.2, 3rd Edition, Gordon And Breach, 1987.
- 31. Gilchrist, R. The Platinum Matals, <u>Chemical</u> <u>Reviews</u>, Vol. 32, No.3, June, 1943, pp. 277-372.
- 32. Sen Gupta, J.G. A Review Of The Methods For The Determination Of The Platinum Group Metals, Silver, And Gold By Atomic-Absorption Spectroscopy, <u>Miner. Sci. Engng.</u>, Vol.5, No.3, July, 1973, pp. 207-218.
- 33. Mallett, R.C., Pearton, D.C.G., and Ring, E.J. <u>The</u> <u>Determination By Atomic-absorption Spectrophotometry</u> <u>Of Platinum, Palladium, Rhodium, Ruthenium, Gold,</u> <u>Silver And Lead, In Prills</u>, National Inst. Metallurgy, Report No.970, June, 1970.
- 34. Beamish, F.E., and Von Loon, J.C. <u>Analysis Of Noble</u> <u>Metals-Overview And Selected Methods</u>, Academic Press, 1977.
- 35. Mohammad, A., and Parry, S.J. Study Of The D gestion Of Chromite During Nickel Sulphide Fire Ast by For The Platinum Group Elements And Gold, <u>Analyst</u>, Vol.116, October, 1991, pp. 1071-1073.

- 36. Mallett, R.C., Pearton, D.C.G., Ring, E.J., and Steele, T.W. Interferences Encounted In The Determination Of The Noble Metals By Atomic-absorption Spectrophotometry, <u>J. S. Afr. Chem. Inst</u>., Vol.25, No.3, 1972, pp. 219-227.
- 37. <u>Mintek Annual Report</u>, 1990, Published By Council For Mineral Technology, South Africa, 1990.
- 38. Cotton, F.A and Wilkinson, G. <u>Advanced Inorganic</u> <u>Chemistry</u>, 2nd Edition, Interscience Publication, 1966.
- 39. Brown, G.I. <u>Introduction To Inordanic Chemistry</u>, 7th Edition, Longman, 1981.
- 40. Shukla, P.P., Mukherjøe, T.K., and Gupta, C.K. A Nitric Acid Route For Processing A Nickel/Copper Sulphide Conceptrate, <u>Hydrometallurgy</u>, 3, 1978, pp. 55-64.
- Reid, J.G. Some Observations Of Roasting, Leaching And Washing Characteristics Of Greenvale Lateritic Ore, In, Osseo-Asure, K., and Miller, J.D. (Editors), <u>Hydrometallurgy Research, Development And</u> <u>Plant Practice</u>, AIME, 1983, pp. 109-120.
- 42. Sato, T., and Nakamura, T. The Stability Constant Of The Aqueous Chlorocomplexes Of Divalent Zinc, Cadmium And Mercury Determined By Solvent Extraction With Tri-n-Octyl-Phosphine Oxide, <u>Hydrometallurgy</u>, Vol.6, 1980, pp. 3-12.
- 43. Tyson, D.R., and Bautista, R.B. Leaching Kinetics Df Platinum And Palladium From Spent Automotive Catalysts, <u>Separation Science And Technol</u> (, Vol.22, 1987, pp. 1149-1167.



Author: Cocksedge Mark Burden.

Name of thesis: Extraction of platinum, palladium and rhodium from tailings by a metal chloride based leach reagent.

PUBLISHER: University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg ©2015

### LEGALNOTICES:

**Copyright Notice:** All materials on the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg Library website are protected by South African copyright law and may not be distributed, transmitted, displayed or otherwise published in any format, without the prior written permission of the copyright owner.

**Disclaimer and Terms of Use:** Provided that you maintain all copyright and other notices contained therein, you may download material (one machine readable copy and one print copy per page)for your personal and/or educational non-commercial use only.

The University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, is not responsible for any errors or omissions and excludes any and all liability for any errors in or omissions from the information on the Library website.